RECEIVED 06-03-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

CASE NO. 2020AP000033 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TANYA M. LIEDKE,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment and Order Entered in the Fond du Lac County Circuit Court, the Honorable Richard J. Nuss, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MEGAN SANDERS-DRAZEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1097296

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8383 sandersdrazenm@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Respondent-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

Two years ago, Tanya Liedke was revoked from probation and began serving imposed-and-stayed sentences on three counts. The next month, she was sentenced after revocation on two more counts. The circuit court imposed concurrent imprisonment.

Ms. Liedke's judgment of conviction for the counts with imposed-and-stayed sentences continues to reflect her pretrial credit of 164 days. By contrast, the JOC entered after revocation of Ms. Liedke's probation grants her 421 days. She seeks 582 days on both JOCs: the 421 days the circuit court and parties agreed upon, 14 more for uncredited time Ms. Liedke spent in jail, and 147 days for the portion of probation during which she wore a GPS bracelet.

1. Is Ms. Liedke entitled to additional credit for time she spent in jail?

The circuit court denied additional credit but did not specifically address Ms. Liedke's jail time.

2. Is Ms. Liedke entitled to additional credit for her time wearing a GPS bracelet?

The circuit court said no.

3. Did the circuit court err by denying credit towards Ms. Liedke's imposed-and-stayed sentences (after she'd begun serving them) on the grounds that doing so is the Department of Corrections' job?

The circuit court said it would not recalculate credit for Ms. Liedke's imposed-and-stayed sentences because doing so is DOC's responsibility.

Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 10 of 42

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Ms. Liedke requests both oral argument and publication.

Oral argument is merited mainly on the third issue: whether a circuit court can correct the credit applicable to an imposed-and-stayed sentence once a defendant is revoked from probation and begins serving that sentence. Here, the circuit court held that DOC alone can address such credit. But no published opinion comes to that conclusion, the statute is ambiguous, and there a number of practical reasons why leaving the issue solely to DOC is problematic. The division of authority between circuit courts and DOC is thus unclear in this domain, and the confusion is thwarting defendants' efforts to get the credit they're due. Engaging with counsel about who should do what (and why) will aid this court in crafting a workable resolution to this statutory quandary. Briefs, meanwhile, can only do so much to tease out the on-the-ground implications of the parties' positions. Argument is warranted. See Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b).

Publication is merited for similar reasons: it will give litigants needed guidance on how to dispute the sentence credit applicable to imposed-and-stayed sentences, and it will give DOC and circuit courts needed guidance on how to—and whether they even can—resolve such disputes. The persistent confusion on these topics is an issue that a binding appellate decision can and should resolve. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)1.

Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 11 of 42

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Ms. Liedke was arrested for breaking into her landlord's home, stealing pills and a check, and then trying (unsuccessfully) to cash the check. (1:5-6). The state brought 16 charges based on this incident, including 12 for bail jumping. (1:1-5). It attached a repeater enhancer to every count. (*Id.*).

The parties negotiated a deal under which Ms. Liedke pleaded no contest to five counts, all as a repeater, and was put on probation for four years. (21; 62:2-4, 27). As a condition of her probation, the court ordered Ms. Liedke to participate in drug court. (62:27-28). It then withheld sentence on two counts and imposed and stayed 15 years' imprisonment on the other three. (62:27). The court also accepted the parties' stipulation to 164 days of sentence credit. (62:8, 30-31).

Nearly three years passed before Ms. Liedke was revoked. (See 31:1). For credit purposes, she was in and out of custody throughout that time: she spent several months wearing a GPS bracelet; she was periodically sent to jail, usually for the weekend, for failing to comply with drug court requirements or other conditions of her probation; and although she'd graduated from drug court earlier in the year, she was brought back to jail pending revocation of her probation on December 29, 2017. (31:1, 3-6). She has been incarcerated ever since.

After Ms. Liedke was revoked and transferred to prison to start serving her imposed-and-stayed sentences, she was sentenced after revocation on the two counts for which sentence had been withheld. (63). The court imposed four years' concurrent

imprisonment on each (63:18), with 421 days of sentence credit (36:4; App. 128). By contrast, the JOC for the counts with imposed-and-stayed sentences was never amended; it still reflects Ms. Liedke's pretrial credit of 164 days. (20:6; App. 134).

Following her sentencing after revocation, Ms. Liedke sought additional credit on five occasions. All five times, the circuit court said no.

First, on November 15, 2018, Ms. Liedke wrote the court to explain that, because her JOC for the counts with imposed-and-stayed sentences was never amended, she wasn't getting the credit she was entitled to on those counts. (65). The court responded with a handwritten note on Ms. Liedke's letter, saying: "Credit on JOC is correct. Further concerns need to be addressed by DOC." (65:1).

Ms. Liedke wrote the court again a few weeks later, expressing confusion about how her credit would be applied to her confinement time on the counts for which sentence was originally imposed and stayed. (66). The court did not respond.

On December 20, 2018, Ms. Liedke wrote the court a letter saying she believed she was statutorily entitled to credit for her time in drug court. (67). The court disagreed, again writing its response directly on her letter: "JOC is attached. As stated previously you received the correct credit. Per JOC that's 421 days." (67:1).

On January 9, 2019, Ms. Liedke filled out a pro se motion for sentence modification. (38). She again explained that she'd learned about a statute that grants credit to those who participate in a

Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 13 of 42

substance abuse treatment program, like drug court, and she asked to be credited accordingly. (38:2-3). The court denied Ms. Liedke's motion with a note on its front page: "Motion DENIED. No new factor & all credit concerns were previously addressed." (39:1).

After the court rejected her fourth request, undersigned counsel was appointed to represent Ms. Liedke on the issue of sentence credit. (See 45). Counsel filed a motion for correction of sentence credit on December 18, 2019. (53; App. 102-24). This, too, was quickly rejected. The circuit court's order, filed the next day, read in full as follows:

Upon filing and review of Defendant's Motion for Correction of Sentence Credit the Court denies the same and reaffirms its Judgments of Conviction. In support of the same the Court finds that a defendant is not entitled to sentence credit when placed on a GPS bracelet while on probation because they are not in custody. Further, the Court does not recalculate sentence credit and amend a Judgment of Conviction following a revocation of probation on an imposed and stayed sentence to reflect additional credit resulting from the revocation as that is the responsibility of DOC. Finally, the credit issue was previously addressed.

(54:1; App. 101).

CUSTODY TABLE

The following table provides the dates relevant to calculating Ms. Liedke's sentence credit, including the dates she was brought into jail in connection with this case, the dates she was released from jail, and the dates she had a GPS bracelet put on or taken off Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 14 of 42

while on probation. These dates come from booking records provided by the Fond du Lac County Jail (see 53:14-22; App. 115-23), as well as from information provided by Ms. Liedke's probation agent (see 53:23; App. 124).

A few points of clarification.

First, between October 19, 2015, and January 15, 2016, Ms. Liedke wore a GPS bracelet whenever she wasn't incarcerated. The bracelet would be placed on Ms. Liedke before she was released from jail, and she'd return to jail still wearing it. To avoid double-counting her days of custody, the table adjusts the dates she wore the GPS bracelet so they do not overlap with her jail time.

Second, for the same reason, the table adjusts the end date of Ms. Liedke's final probation hold. She was transferred to prison that day to begin serving her imposed-and-stayed sentences, so it should counts towards service of those sentences—not as credit. *See State v. Kontny*, 2020 WI App 30, ¶12, --- Wis. 2d ---, --- N.W.2d ---.

Finally, the tally of Ms. Liedke's days of custody (shown in the table's rightmost column) includes the start and end dates for each period of custody. Such inclusion is mandatory. *State v. Johnson*, 2018 WI App 2, ¶¶7-8, 379 Wis. 2d 684, 906 N.W.2d 387. Failure to count these start and end dates may account for some of the discrepancy between the circuit court's credit calculation and that set forth here.

Table. Periods of custody connected to this case.

Start Date	End Date	Type of Custody	Reason	Days
1/30/15	7/13/15	Jail	Pretrial custody	165
8/19/15	10/19/15	Jail	Probation hold	62
10/20/15	11/5/15	GPS bracelet	Drug court condition	17
11/6/15	11/9/15	Jail	Probation hold	4
11/10/15	1/15/16	GPS bracelet	Drug court condition	67
7/8/16	7/10/16	Jail	Probation hold	3
8/26/16	8/29/16	Jail	Probation hold	4
8/30/16	9/8/16	GPS bracelet	Drug court condition	10
9/9/16	9/12/16	Jail	Probation hold	4
9/13/16	11/4/16	GPS bracelet	Drug court condition	53
10/9/17	10/12/17	Jail	Probation hold	4
10/30/17	12/20/17	Jail	Probation hold	52
12/29/17	5/14/18	Jail	Probation hold (pending revocation)	137
			Total	582

Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 16 of 42

ARGUMENT

I. Ms. Liedke is entitled to 582 days of credit.

A. Introduction.

More credit is necessary for two reasons. First, it appears the circuit court and parties simply miscalculated Ms. Liedke's iail time: at sentencing after revocation, everyone agreed she'd spent 421 days in jail in connection with this case, when in fact the tally was 435. Second, equal protection entitles Ms. Liedke to credit for every day of probation during which she wore a GPS bracelet, but she wasn't credited for any of them. The result of these errors is that Ms. Liedke is scheduled to be released from prison nearly six months late. She asks this court to correct her credit—and thus to prevent an unwarranted delay in her return to freedom—while there's still time.

B. Standards of review.

Two bodies of law are involved here: that governing sentence credit and that guaranteeing equal protection. The former revolves around a statute, Wis. Stat. § 973.155. Interpretation and application of a statute are questions of law this court reviews independently. *Gwenevere T. v. Jacob T.*, 2011 WI 30, ¶16, 333 Wis. 2d 273, 797 N.W.2d 854. Whether a particular interpretation of § 973.155 violates equal protection as applied to Ms. Liedke is likewise a question of law this court reviews independently. *See id*.

Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 17 of 42

C. The sentence credit statute entitles Ms. Liedke to 435 days of credit for her time in jail.

Ms. Liedke should be credited for all 435 days she spent in jail in connection with this case.

The starting point is § 973.155(1)(a), which provides that a defendant "shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." In determining whether Ms. Liedke is entitled to the 435 days of credit at issue here, this court "must make two determinations": first, whether Ms. Liedke was "in custody" within the meaning of the statute; whether her second. confinement and "in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." See State v. Johnson, 2009 WI 57, ¶27, 318 Wis. 2d 21, 767 N.W.2d 207.

Ms. Liedke was indisputably in custody, as she was in jail. (*See* 53:14-22; App. 115-23). Incarceration is the clearest (though far from the only) form of custody for which § 973.155 ensures credit.

Nor is there any question Ms. Liedke's jail time was in connection with this case. First she was held in jail pending resolution of these charges. See § 973.155(1)(a)1. After the charges were resolved and she was placed on probation, Ms. Liedke was repeatedly held in jail on probation holds. Like pretrial confinement, confinement on a probation hold is "factually connected with the course of conduct for which sentence was," or will be, "imposed." See State v. Zahurones, 2019 WI App 57, ¶¶14-15, 389 Wis. 2d 69, 934 N.W.2d 905.

Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 18 of 42

Given that the circuit court and parties agreed to additional credit at Ms. Liedke's sentencing after revocation, neither of these points appears to be contested. The gap between the 421 days granted and the 435 days warranted is, as noted above, probably the result of failing to count the start or end dates of Ms. Liedke's stints in jail. That is a common mistake, but a mistake nonetheless. *See Johnson*, 379 Wis. 2d 684, ¶¶7-8.

Although Ms. Liedke's final sentence credit motion proposed this explanation for her erroneous credit, the circuit court did not address it—or discuss her jail time at all. Instead it said "[t]he credit issue was previously addressed," implying it needn't be considered more than once. (54:1; App. 101).

That is incorrect, as the court of appeals recently recognized in an opinion recommended for publication. See Kontny, 2020 WI App 30, ¶¶8-9. Kontny held that regardless of how much credit the circuit court granted, and regardless of whether the parties agreed to that amount, the defendant could not be prevented "from later arguing in postconviction motion that the amount of sentence credit awarded by the court was erroneous." Id., ¶9. This conclusion, it explained, flows from the plain language of § 973.155, which makes sentence credit mandatory, and from precedent, which says credit must be granted when it's statutorily due because "a person [may] not serve more time than that for which he [or she] is sentenced." Id. (quoting State v. Carter, 2010 WI 77, ¶51, 372 Wis. 2d 1, 785 N.W.2d 516).

Thus, neither the parties' stipulations to credit at Ms. Liedke's sentencing and sentencing after revocation hearings, nor the circuit court's acceptance of those stipulations, controls. What matters is what § 973.155 requires. This court should reverse the circuit court's decision denying credit for the additional days Ms. Liedke spent in jail.

D. Equal protection entitles Ms. Liedke to 147 days of credit for her time wearing a GPS bracelet while on probation.

Page 19 of 42

Ms. Liedke should be credited for the 147 days of her time on probation during which she wore a GPS bracelet.

1. Overview of *Magnuson*.

As discussed above, § 973.155(1)(a) guarantees credit "for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." Over time, courts have parsed this provision, clarifying, for example, what "a day" of custody is (see Johnson, 379 Wis. 2d 684, ¶8), and what nexus renders custody "in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed" (see, e.g., State v. Davis, 2017 WI App 55, ¶10, 377 Wis. 2d 678, 901 N.W.2d 488). Here the issue is "custody" itself.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court most recently defined "custody" for sentence credit purposes in *State v. Magnuson*, 2000 WI 19, ¶31, 233 Wis. 2d 40, 606 N.W.2d 536. *Magnuson* considered whether a defendant should be credited for six months during which he was out on bond but confined to home detention with electronic monitoring and a nightly curfew, among other conditions. *Id.*, ¶1. The state argued that the defendant's bond conditions didn't amount to custody. The defendant disagreed.

In resolving their dispute, the court began by observing that prior cases had "interpreted the sentence credit statute and concluded that the plain meaning of custody . . . corresponds to the definition of custody contained in the escape statute." *Id.*, ¶13. An early case, it explained, had limited custody to the forms of restraint listed in the statute criminalizing escape. *State v. Gilbert*, 115 Wis. 2d 371, 378-79, 340 N.W.2d 511 (1983). But a later case held that the types of custody enumerated in the escape statute aren't exhaustive, so courts must decide on a case-bycase basis whether a particular set of restraints are "the functional equivalent of confinement." *State v. Collett*, 207 Wis. 2d 319, 325, 558 N.W.2d 642 (Ct. App. 1996).

Neither approach satisfied the *Magnuson* court. *Gilbert*'s narrow focus on the escape statute overlooked the legislature's efforts to categorize other "situations as restrictive and custodial." *Magnuson*, 233 Wis. 2d 40, ¶22. The fact-intensive *Collett* inquiry, meanwhile, "impose[d] an unnecessary burden upon courts and hinder[ed] consistency." *Id.* ¶26. So the court devised a new test. It declared that "for sentence credit purposes an offender's status constitutes custody whenever the offender is subject to an escape charge," either under the escape statute or under a different law altogether. *Id.*, ¶¶25-31.

2. Overview of equal protection.

The *Magnuson* court wasn't asked to consider, and did not address, the equal protection implications of its custody test. This court should do so here.

Ms. Liedke's right to equal protection is rooted in both the state and federal constitutions, which provide substantially equivalent guarantees. See Treiber v. Knoll, 135 Wis. 2d 58, 68, 398 N.W.2d 756 (1987); see also Wis. Const. art. I, § 1; U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. Both "are designed to assure that those who are similarly situated will be treated similarly." Treiber, 135 Wis. 2d at 68. Neither, however, requires the state to treat everyone the same: disparate treatment is allowed when there's a good enough reason for it.

The party alleging an equal protection violation must start by showing a disparity exists—that she's part of a group similarly situated to another group but subject to different treatment. *See, e.g., id.* at 69. At that point, the burden shifts to the state to justify the disparity.

The level of scrutiny applied to the state's rationale varies. Ordinarily, the state need only show that the challenged disparity is rationally related to a legitimate governmental purpose. *Heller v. Doe*, 509 U.S. 312, 320 (1993). When the disparity impinges on a fundamental right, however—depriving one group, but not a similarly situated group, of that right—the state must prove the disparity "necessary to promote a compelling governmental interest." *State v. Post*, 197 Wis. 2d 279, 319, 541 N.W.2d 115 (1995).

An equal protection claim can be facial or as-applied. $State\ v.\ Wood,\ 2010\ WI\ 17,\ \P13,\ 323\ Wis.\ 2d\ 321,\ 780\ N.W.2d\ 63.$ To prevail on a facial claim, "the challenger must show that the law cannot be enforced 'under any circumstances," consistent with equal protection. Id. If she succeeds, the law is invalidated completely. Id. To prevail on an as-applied claim, however, the challenger need only convince the court with regard to the facts before

it—"not hypothetical facts in other situations." *Id.* Success means "the law is void [only] as to the party asserting the claim." *Id.* It is the latter challenge Ms. Liedke brings and the latter remedy she seeks.

3. *Magnuson* violates equal protection as applied to Ms. Liedke's time wearing a GPS bracelet. She should be credited for that time.

Ms. Liedke was not subject to an escape charge while forced to wear a GPS bracelet on probation, under either the escape statute itself or any other provision. Thus, under *Magnuson*, she was not in custody and doesn't get credit for that time. But because applying *Magnuson* here would violate Ms. Liedke's right to equal protection, she should get the credit anyway.

The first and most basic problem is that *Magnuson* results in disparate treatment of similarly situated groups.

Similarly situated groups need not be identical (if they were, they'd be one group). See, e.g., State v. Curiel, 227 Wis. 2d 389, 413, 597 N.W.2d 697 (1999). Rather, they must resemble one another "with respect to the challenged governmental action." State v. Kramer, 2001 WI 132, ¶20, 248 Wis. 2d 1009, 637 N.W.2d 35.

The first group at issue here consists of probationers who wore a GPS bracelet and faced an escape charge while doing so. This group includes those who participated in intensive sanctions (*see* Wis. Stat. § 301.048(3)(a)(3) and those who served their condition time under electronic monitoring

Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 23 of 42

instead of in jail (see Wis. Stat. § 302.425(2), (3)). The second group consists of probationers who, as with the first group, wore a GPS bracelet, but, unlike the first group, did not face an escape charge. This group includes Ms. Liedke.

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