FILED
09-04-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2020AP33-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TANYA M. LIEDKE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDER ENTERED IN FOND DU LAC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RICHARD J. NUSS, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2797 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) latorracadv@doj.state.wi.us Case 2020AP000033

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

#### ARGUMENT

- I. Section 973.155(5) required Liedke to petition DOC for sentence credit before she petitioned the circuit court for relief.
  - A. Legal principles guiding sentence credit determinations under section 973.155

Statutory interpretation. The right of a person to receive sentence credit and the procedures that a person must follow to receive sentence credit require this Court to interpret section 973.155. "[T]he purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect." State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "This Court begins statutory interpretation with the language of [the] statute." State v. Quintana, 2008 WI 33, ¶ 13, 308 Wis. 2d 615, 748 N.W.2d 447. "If the meaning of the statute is plain," this Court "ordinarily stop[s] the inquiry and give[s] the language its 'common, ordinary, and accepted meaning . . . ." Id. (citation omitted).

The right to sentence credit. "A convicted offender" is entitled to sentence credit "for all days spent in custody in Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Respondent Filed 09-04-2020 Page 15 of 40

connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a). Under this subsection, a defendant is entitled to presentence credit for time spent in custody while "awaiting trial," while "being tried," and while "awaiting imposition of sentence." Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a)1., 2., and 3.; State v. Marcus Johnson, 2007 WI 107, ¶ 4 n.2, 304 Wis. 2d 318, 735 N.W.2d 505. Because sentence credit is mandatory, Carter, 327 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 51, "[n]othing in § 973.155 authorizes the parties to agree to an amount of sentence credit that differs from the amount to which the defendant is entitled under the statute." State v. Kontny, 2020 WI App 30, ¶ 9, 392 Wis. 2d 311, 943 N.W.2d 923.

Credit determinations for concurrent and consecutive sentences. When a circuit court imposes concurrent sentences, the defendant is entitled to dual sentence credit provided that the "custody [is] factually connected with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." State v. Elandis Johnson, 2009 WI 57, ¶¶ 3, 76, 318 Wis. 2d 21, 767 N.W.2d 207. But when a circuit court imposes a sentence consecutive to another sentence, the defendant is not entitled to receive dual sentence credit. State v. Boettcher, 144 Wis. 2d 86, 87, 423 N.W.2d 533 (1988). "Credit is to be given on a day-for-day basis, which is not to be duplicatively credited to more than one of the sentences imposed to run consecutively." Id. Because "custody credits should be applied mathematically linear fashion," credit is applied to the sentence that is imposed first. *Id.* at 100.

When credit must be determined. Wisconsin Stat. § 973.155(2) identifies two junctures when sentence credit must be calculated and awarded. First, the circuit court must make a sentence credit determination when it imposes a sentence and include its determination on the judgment of conviction. *Id.* Second, when a defendant's supervision is revoked, section 973.155(2) requires DOC, when a defendant waives revocation, or DHA, when a defendant has a

revocation hearing, to make a sentence credit "finding" and include it in the revocation order. *Id*.

The assessment of whether someone was in custody and entitled to credit. In deciding whether to grant sentence credit, the circuit court decides (1) whether the defendant was "in custody" as the term is defined under sec. 973.155(1); and (2) whether the "custody" was "in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." Elandis Johnson, 318 Wis. 2d 21, ¶ 27. The defendant bears "the burden of demonstrating both 'custody' and its connection with the course of conduct for which the . . . sentence was imposed." Carter, 327 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 11.

### B. Section 973.155(5) creates an administrative process for obtaining sentence credit.

Section 973.155(5)<sup>2</sup> establishes a procedure that guides the determination of sentence credit when section 973.155 "has not been applied at sentencing to any person who is in custody" or who is on supervision. It provides that the person "may petition" DOC to be given credit. *Id.* If DOC verifies the facts alleged in the petition, then DOC shall apply the credit "retroactively to the person." *Id.* If DOC "is unable to determine whether credit should be given, or otherwise

If this section has not been applied at sentencing to any person who is in custody or to any person who is on probation, extended supervision or parole, the person may petition the department to be given credit under this section. Upon proper verification of the facts alleged in the petition, this section shall be applied retroactively to the person. If the department is unable to determine whether credit should be given, or otherwise refuses to award retroactive credit, the person may petition the sentencing court for relief. This subsection applies to any person, regardless of the date he or she was sentenced.

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Wisconsin Stat. § 973.155(5) provides:

refuses to award retroactive credit, the person may petition the sentencing court for relief." Id.<sup>3</sup>

Suggesting that section 973.155(5)'s "meaning remains obscure," Liedke notes that the "vast majority of sentence credit case law" does not acknowledge or enforce the administrative process that section 973.155(5) appears to dictate. (Liedke's Br. 23–24.) But Liedke overlooks three supreme court cases that treat section 973.155(5)'s administrative process as mandatory, requiring persons to petition DOC before bringing a post-sentencing credit claim in the circuit court.

In Larson v. State, 86 Wis. 2d 187, 200, 271 N.W.2d 647 (1978), the Court declined to address the merits of a credit request made to the circuit court. Instead, the Court declared that Larson's "remedy is to now pursue the matter by petition to [DOC's precursor agency<sup>4</sup>] as provided in sec. 973.155(5), Stats." Likewise, in Clark v. State, 92 Wis. 2d 617, 644, 286 N.W.2d 344 (1979), the Court determined that Clark was entitled credit, but announced that "[h]is remedy to obtain credit under sec. 973.155(5), Stats., is to petition [DOC]." And, in Haskins v. State, 97 Wis. 2d 408, 425, 294 N.W.2d 25 (1980), the Court again declined to address the merits of a defendant's credit claim, restating the view that Haskins's remedy was to "pursue the matter by petition" to the agency under Wis. Stat. § 973.155(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Section 973.155(5)'s two-step petition process applies only when section 973.155 "has not been applied at sentencing." Under section 973.155(2), the court has a duty to make a sentence credit determination when it sentences a person and enter credit on the judgment of conviction. The person may appeal the court's adverse credit determination under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30 without first petitioning DOC under section 973.155(5). Wis. Stat. § 973.155(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Division of Corrections was part of the Department of Health and Social Services before it was reorganized as a separate Department of Corrections in 1989 Wisconsin Act 31, §§ 73, 2569.

Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Respondent Filed 09-04-2020 Page 18 of 40

The supreme court's decisions in *Larson*, *Clark*, and *Haskins* are consistent with section 973.155(5)'s structure. In contrast to the first sentence, which authorizes the person to petition DOC for "credit," the second sentence authorizes the person to petition the sentencing court for "relief." When the second sentence is read in its entirety, relief means relief from DOC's inability or refusal to grant sentence credit in response to the person's petition. In other words, section 973.155(5) allows a person to petition the sentencing court, but only if the person has first petitioned DOC and DOC was unable to determine or refused to award credit.

Under "expressio unius," a canon of statutory interpretation, "the expression of one thing in a statute excludes another that is not stated." Nw. Airlines, Inc. v. Wisconsin Dep't of Revenue, 2006 WI 88, ¶ 50, 293 Wis. 2d 202, 717 N.W.2d 280. "This presumption is perhaps at its height in the context of an 'if-then' statement like the one at issue here. This is an unequivocal statement of a condition. And the condition would be eviscerated if we were to read the expressed condition as exemplary and not exclusive." State v. Wadsworth, 393 P.3d 338, 341 (Utah Sup. Ct. 2017). Similarly, in the context of section 973.155(5), the "if," i.e., DOC's inability or refusal to grant credit in response to a petition, is a condition precedent to the person petitioning the circuit court for relief.

The supreme court's view—that the procedure established in Wis. Stat. § 973.155(5) is mandatory—is consistent with its approach to all statutes that establish administrative remedies. "[W]here a statute sets forth a procedure for review of administrative action and court review of the administrative decision, such remedy is exclusive and must be employed before other remedies are used." Nodell Inv. Corp. v. City of Glendale, 78 Wis. 2d 416, 422, 254 N.W.2d 310 (1977). This rule "is a doctrine of judicial restraint, justified by good policy reasons." St. Croix Valley

Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Respondent Filed 09-04-2020 Page 19 of 40

Home Builders Ass'n, Inc. v. Twp. of Oak Grove, 2010 WI App 96, ¶ 11, 327 Wis. 2d 510, 787 N.W.2d 454. "It permits the administrative agency to apply its own expertise to the matter, promotes judicial efficiency, and may provide the court with greater clarification of the issues in the event the matter is not resolved before the agency. *Id*.

DOC has developed expertise calculating sentence, promulgating administrative rules to ensure timely, accurate, and consistent sentence credit computations. Wis. Admin. Code §§ DOC 302.22–302.24. Placing the issue before DOC—with complete and accurate evidence—would allow it "to perform the functions the legislature has delegated to it and to employ its special expertise and fact-finding facility." *Metz v. Veterinary Examining Bd.*, 2007 WI App 220, ¶ 13, 305 Wis. 2d 788, 741 N.W.2d 244. "Preventing premature judicial intervention also allows the agency to correct its own error, thus promoting judicial efficiency." *Id.* Also, "in the event judicial review is necessary, the complete administrative process may provide a greater clarification of the issues." *Id.* 

As Liedke's case demonstrates, requiring an initial DOC review of credit requests after sentencing is good policy. DOC maintains all records of an offender's Wisconsin custody, and DOC staff have expertise in sentence computation. In Liedke's case, DOC, not the sentencing court, had the information necessary to calculate Liedke's credit based on postsentencing custody, including the time she spent on probation holds after sentencing and her revocation on other cases. (R. 31:1, 7.) Requiring claims to first be presented to DOC is thus more apt to produce correct determinations—and to reduce the number of credit claims in the courts.

Competency refers to "the power of a court to exercise its subject matter jurisdiction." *Kohler Co. v. Wixen*, 204 Wis. 2d 327, 336, 555 N.W.2d 640 (Ct. App. 1996). A circuit court's competency to proceed (i.e., "its ability to undertake a consideration of the specific case or issue before it") is a power

Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Respondent Filed 09-04-2020 Page 20 of 40

conferred by the legislature, not its jurisdictional authority conferred by the state constitution. State v. Minniecheske, 223 Wis. 2d 493, 497–98, 590 N.W.2d 17 (Ct. App. 1998). "Failures to abide by statutory mandates that are 'central to the statutory scheme' of which they are a part will deprive the circuit court of competency." Village of Elm Grove v. Brefka, 2013 WI 54, ¶ 18, 348 Wis. 2d 282, 832 N.W.2d 121. Because section 973.155(5) mandates a procedure that must be followed to obtain credit after sentencing, noncompliance with this statutory mandate affects the court's competency to decide sentence credit. See City of Eau Claire v. Booth, 2016 WI 65, ¶ 12, 370 Wis. 2d 595, 882 N.W.2d 738.

Therefore, based on *Larson*, *Clark*, and *Haskins*, and the principles set forth above, this Court should—and likely must—conclude that Wis. Stat. § 973.155(5) requires persons seeking credit after sentencing to petition DOC before bringing their claims in the circuit court. *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997) ("supreme court is the only state court with the power to overrule, modify or withdraw language from a previous supreme court case"). And when the person does not comply with section 973.155(5)'s mandated procedures, the sentencing court lacks competency to decide sentence credit.

## C. Liedke's arguments notwithstanding, section 973.155(5) creates a procedure for seeking credit after sentencing.

Liedke suggests that section 973.155(5)'s use of "may" rather than "shall" suggests that the section's administrative process is permissive and did not prevent her from seeking credit directly from the circuit court. (Liedke's Br. 25.) Even without *Larson*, *Clark*, or *Haskins*, Liedke's interpretation would be suspect. Here, "may" refers to the person's option to seek credit at all—you "may" seek credit if you believe you

Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Respondent Filed 09-04-2020 Page 21 of 40

have a claim—not to whether the petition provision is optional or mandatory.

To illustrate, an administrative code provision establishing a mandatory procedure uses "may" in a similar manner. Wisconsin Admin. Code § DOC 310.09(1) provides that an inmate "may" file an administrative appeal from the denial of an inmate complaint. There, "may" means the inmate has the right to file an administrative appeal; it does not mean the agency process is optional, and the inmate may instead seek direct review in the courts. *See Moore v. Stahowiak*, 212 Wis. 2d 744, 750, 569 N.W.2d 711 (Ct. App. 1997) (inmate must exhaust claims through administrative review process before seeking court review).

This Court should also decline Liedke's invitation to grant sentence credit apart from section 973.155(5) based on inherent authority. (Liedke's Br. 25–26.) Inherent authority refers to the powers "necessary to enable courts to accomplish their constitutionally and legislatively mandated functions." State v. Henley, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 73, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350. The supreme court has recognized that exercise of inherent authority implicates the separation of powers among the branches of government and the judiciary's obligation to preserve itsconstitutionally functions. State v. Schwind, 2019 WI 48, ¶ 14, 386 Wis. 2d 526, 926 N.W.2d 742. Therefore, the supreme court carefully invokes inherent authority, but only when necessary to maintain the dignity of the courts, transact business, and accomplish the purposes of the courts' existence. *Id.* ¶ 15.

"Wisconsin courts have generally exercised inherent authority in three areas: (1) to guard against actions that would impair the powers or efficacy of the courts or judicial system; (2) to regulate the bench and bar; and (3) to ensure the efficient and effective functioning of the court, and to fairly administer justice." *Henley*, 328 Wis. 2d 544, ¶ 73. The legislature's decision to confer initial authority on the

Case 2020AP000033 Brief of Respondent Filed 09-04-2020 Page 22 of 40

executive branch through DOC to determine sentence credit after sentencing does not intrude on any of these interests.

First, the legislature's creation of a two-step review process under section 973.155(5) is consistent with the supreme court's recognition that sentencing is an area of shared power among the three branches of government. Schwind, 386 Wis. 2d 526, ¶¶ 20–27. Requiring a person to petition DOC for credit after sentencing but before seeking relief from the sentencing court does not impair the judiciary's power. To the contrary, the process enhances the judiciary's power by giving it the final say through its review of DOC's decision to deny the requested credit.

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